Equity-Minded Reformof Faculty Evaluation

A Call to Action



KerryAnn O'Meara (she, her) is a professor and distinguished scholar-teacher at the University of Maryland (UMD) who has studied issues of equity, faculty careers, and academic reward systems for over 20 years. Her grant-funded research on this topic is published in over 53 peer-reviewed articles and in over 100 book chapters, edited books, policy reports, and essays. She consults regularly with campuses engaging in equity-minded reform of faculty reward systems. As a faculty member herself, O'Meara has the lived experience of moving through the faculty ranks, serving on personnel committees, and being an external reviewer. She also has significant experience as an administrator, having served for 10 years as the director of the ADVANCE Program for Inclusive Excellence and three years as an associate dean for faculty affairs. She now serves as an assistant to her president at UMD.

Lindsey Templeton (she, her) studies higher education with a specific focus on gender equity in academic leadership. A former coordinator for the ADVANCE Leadership Fellows program at UMD and current staff member at Higher Education Resource Services (HERS), Templeton comes to this work focused on academic leadership and organizational change. She has worked alongside O'Meara as a consultant to campuses on their faculty evaluation policies and procedures and brings a perspective outside of the faculty ranks.



ACE and the American Council on Education are registered marks of the American Council on Education and may not be used or reproduced without the express written permission of ACE.

American Council on Education One Dupont Circle NW Washington, DC 20036

© 2022. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

EQUITY-MINDED REFORM OF FACULTY EVALUATION: A CALL TO ACTION

KERRYANN O'MEARA LINDSEY TEMPLETON

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Why Is Equity-Minded Faculty Evaluation Reform Important Now?	2
Equity-Minded Reform of Faculty Evaluation Policies and Practices	5
Transparency	7
Clarity	
Accountability	
Consistency	
Context	12
Credit	14
Flexibility	14
Agency and Representation	15
Conclusion	
References	



Introduction

Higher education stands at the edge of possibility. It is a time of "both . . . and." Racial injustice and structural inequality permeate every part of our society—many higher education institutions are more diverse than they have ever been and yet they are not fully inclusive. And, because of higher education's compelling interest in diversity and demonstrated capacity to address it, we could lead the nation in the remaking of organizations as antiracist. Our climate is in peril. And, we can form the next generation of scientists, teachers, and citizens who will save our world. The Great Resignation has permanently changed the economy. And, research can inform how we retool employees, businesses, and government for better careers and workplaces. We are facing a crisis in our democracy—misinformation threatens civic participation. And, we could contribute meaningfully to civic education and help citizens be better consumers of information. The public and prospective students are questioning the value of higher education, and we have the opportunity to show the impact of our work in new ways. In sum, higher education institutions live at this edge of possibility, and there is much higher education could do.

It may seem curious that we see a connection between these challenges and opportunities and academic reward systems. However, academic reward systems are critical enablers of institutional missions. They are how we choose to live and work together, representing our values, aspirations, goals, and legitimacy (O'Meara 2011a, 2015b). Just as no college or university can achieve its greatest aspirations without funding, leadership, and shared governance, academic reward systems can hold institutions back or propel them forward.

How can a college or university recruit publicly engaged scholars and those innovating in the learning sciences, and not have policies and practices that uplift, reward, and promote these individuals and their distinct contributions? How can higher education institutions support mission-driven work around diversity, equity, and inclusion on campus and in their community, if the only measure of impact that will matter in faculty evaluation are author citations from peer-reviewed journal articles, rather than faculty contributions to that same community work? Why would higher education institutions expect to

be able to attract and retain talented faculty if the criteria for advancement are ambiguous and do not account for differences in career stages, talents, and work-life contexts? Why would Black, Latinx, and Indigenous scholars stay at an institution that continually asks them to serve as mentors to historically minoritized students, and to serve on diversity, equity, and inclusion task forces and search committees, but considers that work irrelevant in faculty reward systems? Without equity-minded reform of faculty evaluation policies and practices, higher education is limited in the promises it can make and keep.

We realize that there are important debates underway about the costs and benefits of tenure systems and the lack of job security within professional track faculty appointments. These debates are salient and important, but not the purpose of our work.

Our purpose is to provide evidence and rationale for why equity-minded reform of faculty evaluation policies and practices is urgently needed. We offer recommendations and examples as scholars who have studied equity, faculty careers, and academic reward systems, and as consultants who have worked with campuses to revise their faculty evaluation policies to become more equity minded.

Our contribution to this conversation includes three resources for equity-minded reform of faculty evaluation policies and

- This report, which outlines key principles for equity-minded reform of faculty evaluation policies
- 2. A second, forthcoming report, outlining specific areas in faculty evaluation policies well-suited for reform
- 3. An audit tool to assist with reform efforts

As two cisgender, White women we have not experienced the biases, discrimination, and harm encountered by faculty of Black, Latinx, Indigenous, LGBTQ, and other historically minoritized identities in faculty evaluation systems. However, our research and engagement with colleagues of these identities very much informed our commitments to be allies of equityminded reform in faculty evaluation systems. As such, our research and practice aims to name inequities in predominantly White spaces, including in faculty appointment, retention, workload, and reward systems.

In the next section, we explain why it is so important to engage in equity-minded reform of faculty evaluation now.

Why Is Equity-Minded Faculty Evaluation **Reform Important Now?**

Higher education institutions should consider conducting an equity-minded audit of their faculty evaluation policies and practices for three compelling reasons.

1. Diversity, equity, and inclusion

There is extensive evidence that faculty members who are women and from historically minoritized groups are not recruited, promoted, and advanced at the same rates as their White and men faculty counterparts. This reality has been true for a long time, despite an increase in the diversity of undergraduate students and PhD recipients. Take, for example, the following statistics:

- Although the share of undergraduate students of color grew between 1996 and 2016 from 29.6 to 45.2 percent, and the share of graduate students from 20.8 to 32 percent, people of color held only 21.1 percent of full-time faculty positions, and faculty of color were less likely than White faculty to hold full professorships (Espinosa et al. 2019, xvi).
- Women make up the majority of non-tenure-track lecturers and instructors across institutions, but only 44 percent of tenure-track faculty and 36 percent of full professors (AAUP 2018; AAUW, n.d.).
- An analysis of data from 1993 to 2010 in the Survey of Doctorate Recipients showed that Black assistant professors and women professors with children under six were less likely to have achieved tenure than their peers (Connolly, Lee, and Savoy 2015).



Overall, the latest statistics across different fields and most institutional types show that women and historically minoritized faculty are underrepresented at career entry and make slower progress through the ranks of higher education (Arellano et al. 2018; Blue, Traxler, and Cid 2018; Durodoye et al. 2020; Ivie, Anderson, and White 2014; Leslie et al. 2015; Ong et al. 2011; Trower 2002; Turner, González, and Wood 2008; Valian 1999). Black, Latinx, and Indigenous faculty are historically minoritized, especially at predominantly White higher education institutions.

Cheryan and Markus (2020) observe that we might frame inequity in evaluation processes as issues of "differential treatment" (e.g., John and Jamal have the same credentials but are treated differently) and issues of "default characteristics" embedded in the process (e.g., evaluation criteria framed as neutral actually advantage John because he is more likely to be in a group that meets that criteria). As it relates to differential treatment, extensive social science evidence using longitudinal, experimental, ethnographic, and survey methods demonstrates that implicit bias and overt discrimination shape faculty evaluation (Eagan and Garvey 2015; Eaton et al. 2020; El-Alayli, Hansen-Brown, and Ceynar 2018; Griffin, Bennett, and Harris 2013; Milkman, Akinola, and Chugh 2015; Moss-Racusin et al. 2012; Posselt 2016; Ray 2019; Steinpreis, Anders, and Ritzke 1999; White-Lewis 2020). For example, research has shown implicit biases not only in hiring decisions, but also in who is asked to perform an unpromotable task (El-Alayli, Hansen-Brown, and Ceynar 2018; O'Meara et al. 2017).

Implicit bias has been found in peer review and assessment of scholarship. For example, Sarsons (2017) found women were less likely than men to be given credit for their contributions to collaborative work, and Murrar et al. (2021) found that reviewers were almost twice as likely to recommend publication for research conducted on men than the same research conducted on women. Similar research has found that implicit biases shape evaluation in peer review (Lee et al. 2013; Witteman et al. 2018), definitions of leadership (Marchant, Bhattacharya, and Carnes 2007), and student evaluations of teaching (Mitchell and Martin 2018; Rosen 2018; Uttl and Smibert 2017). A lack of clear definitions and standards for review creates a "foggy" (Beddoes and Pawley 2014) climate for evaluation, which disproportionately hurts women and historically minoritized faculty (Fox et al. 2007; Lennartz and O'Meara 2018; Misra et al. 2011).

Faculty evaluation policies and practices also have embedded default characteristics that make it seem as if the playing field is equal and objective but in fact favors particular groups, typically those who are perceived to be White, cisgender, and men (Cheryan and Markus 2020; Posselt, Hernandez, and Villarreal 2020; Ray 2019). Here are three examples of the role of default characteristics in faculty evaluation: size of field, research topic, and prestige networks.

- Size of field: If scholars are evaluated on the number of citations they receive, but there are scholars being evaluated or compared who are from subfields of different sizes, it may look like the scholar in the larger field is doing more important work, when in fact the other scholars had fewer opportunities to be cited (Mitchneck 2020). Relatedly, research topics focused on historically minoritized communities have been less successful in National Institutes of Health (NIH) grant competitions (Hoppe et al. 2019), and novel contributions made by historically minoritized and women faculty are not taken up by colleagues and cited at the same rate as similar contributions by White and men colleagues (Hofstra et al. 2020).
- Research topic and methods: Settles, Buchanan, and Dotson's (2019) work on epistemic exclusion revealed how scholarship completed by faculty of color can be framed as problematic—as politically driven or "me-search" and work that is community-applied, qualitative, and social justice-oriented is devalued in reward systems. Yet historically minoritized and women faculty are disproportionately involved in such work (HERI 2017; Settles, Buchanan, and Dotson 2019; Teele and Thelen 2017).
- Prestige networks: Many believe the process of asking for external review letters is meritocratic. However, scholars may be evaluated based, in part, on the prestige of those who write their external letters. This can mean that scholars who study topics and use methods that are less present in prestigious high-research doctoral universities could seem less important as scholars. However, a given scholar's network is related to where they received their degree, what they study, and how they study it (Stewart and Valian 2018). Scholars, for example, with primary networks inside Historically Black Colleges and Universities (HBCUs) and Hispanic-Serving Institutions (HSIs) may be disadvantaged in comparison with those whose careers were in Big Ten and/or Ivy League institutions.



We intend for this report to help universities consider whether they have default expectations embedded in their faculty evaluation criteria that advantage White and/or men scholars over historically minoritized and women scholars, and/or some subfields over others. We encourage faculty and academic leaders to ask questions about institutional values and criteria for faculty evaluation. Which standards should be applied to all faculty? What can be flexible and/or made more expansive? Are there criteria or practices that are constraining access and success of a diverse faculty contributing across a range of epistemologies, methods, and missions?

2. Twenty-first-century needs and goals of higher education

As we write, faculty are taking on critical issues such as mental health, food insecurity, racial justice, and helping to build back local, regional, and national democracies (O'Meara, Bawa, et al. 2021). Academic programs and departments are taking on grand challenges and doing so with leaner budgets, but these values and commitments are not frequently considered in faculty evaluation processes.

The desire to reflect these evolving values and commitments through faculty evaluation is growing. For example, the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2020, 1) held a convening to "re-envision advancement pathways for all STEM faculty." Similarly, President E. Gordon Gee of West Virginia University shared the following:

> As the president of a major research flagship land-grant university, I need maximum flexibility when it comes to rewarding the people who have given so much of themselves for the success of our students. I need creative ways to incentivize their continued commitment to our success. Recognizing faculty with the process to gain tenure when their primary duty is teaching or service is simply the right thing to do. To not do so creates a class system in higher education that does great harm to the academy—and all those whom we serve. (Gee 2021)

Colleges and universities need more flexibility in their evaluation systems in order to honor the faculty labor involved in student success, diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI), academic leadership, and curriculum reform. In this equity-minded audit, we encourage academic leaders and faculty to consider whether their faculty evaluation policies include mission critical work, or whether some of it is invisible, thus holding the institution back.

3. Changes in what faculty do and how they do it

Faculty evaluation policies and procedures must keep pace with the new, different, and emerging ways in which scholars are pursuing learning, scholarship, and public engagement. For example, public scholarship, along with a pull to translate science to lay and professional audiences, has greatly increased (Ellison and Eatman 2008; HERI 2017). In fact, 47 percent of faculty respondents to the Higher Education Research Institute (HERI) survey said that they collaborated with local or regional community partners on teaching or research (HERI 2017). Yet faculty evaluation still prioritizes more traditional teaching, research, and scholarly impact (Butler 2021; Mitchneck and Smith 2021; O'Meara 2018). Technology has drastically changed how scholars disseminate work, but most faculty evaluation policies have not changed to reflect digital work in the humanities and scholarly blogs, public-facing websites, or podcasts (Fenton 2017; Richardson 2013).

Higher education institutions, like many organizations, have also realized that greater flexibility is needed to meet current constraints and opportunities (O'Meara 2015a). The global pandemic caused many institutions to at least temporarily, if not permanently, make changes to reflect the realities of telework, online teaching, and childcare. In 2020, many institutions suspended student teaching evaluations, invited faculty candidates to present COVID-19 impact statements in annual reviews and tenure portfolios, and created opt-out or opt-in extensions to tenure clocks (Gonzales and Griffin 2020). Although many of these reforms or modifications were gratefully accepted, they questioned the assumptions that gave life to the old systems. For example, the overreliance on student evaluations to evaluate teaching and learning has been replaced with recognition that a holistic approach to the evaluation of teaching is critical to understanding teaching, learning, and mentoring contributions (Kreitzer and Sweet-Cushman 2021). In the equity-minded call to action of this report and the associated audit, we encourage institutions to question the reasons behind specific policies and practices to see if they meet current realities and goals. Do the policies encourage faculty to document and thereby get credit and recognition for the full impacts of their work?

These rationales for an equity-minded audit of faculty evaluation policies are best summarized by the questions who, what, and how. Institutions say they want a more diverse faculty, as well as a faculty who contribute to mission-critical work and seek to learn, teach, and contribute across a range of methods and epistemologies. The ways that faculty go about their work have changed. To recruit and retain faculty, and to help them thrive, institutional evaluation systems must change as well.

Equity-Minded Reform of Faculty Evaluation Policies and Practices

In this section of our report, we share guiding principles for an equity-minded audit of faculty evaluation policies and practices that can be implemented at one's own institution.

Our audit assumes an equity-minded approach (Bensimon 2006; Bensimon, Dowd, and Witham 2016; Gonzales and Griffin 2020; McNair, Bensimon, and Malcom-Piqueux, 2020; Posselt et al. 2020) that is aware of the sociohistorical context of exclusionary practices in higher education and takes ownership and responsibility for equity in processes, resources, and outcomes. As such, although the audit is intended to improve conditions and fairness generally, we are especially intent on auditing faculty evaluation processes for ways that they disadvantage historically minoritized faculty and those who study



across a range of epistemologies and methods.¹ We also draw on empirical research showing conditions that foster just and equitable organizations and workplaces (Bohnet 2016; Correll 2017; Daly and Dee 2006; Gappa, Austin, and Trice 2007; Gonzales and Griffin 2020; Kalev, Dobbin, and Kelly 2006; O'Meara 2011b; O'Meara, Lennartz, et al. 2019; Posselt et al. 2020; Stewart and Valian 2018; Turner, González, and Wood 2008; White-Lewis 2020) and research on diversity and inclusion in academic careers and evaluation (Banerjee and Pawley 2013; Carnes, Bartels, et al. 2015; Carnes, Devine, et al. 2015; Dowd and Bensimon 2015; Laursen and Austin 2020; Marchant, Bhattacharya, and Carnes 2007; Moody 2012; Steinpreis, Anders, and Ritzke 1999; Stewart and Valian 2018; Tierney and Bensimon 1996).

None of these recommendations is a one-size-fits-all fix. Decisions to change policies will appropriately reflect institutional missions, priorities, values, and cultures, which will differ, for example, in the emphasis of teaching, scholarship, and service. Our recommendations are focused primarily on college or university-wide faculty evaluation policies, recognizing that department and program policies will differ based on disciplinary and field differences but tend to follow the general guidelines set by the institution.

Our audit approach is not exhaustive. The recommendations, if completed, will not make a faculty evaluation policy "perfect." Rather, this iterative process is meant to aid an institution as it continuously learns how policies might be more equitable and inclusive.

We also recognize that faculty evaluation occurs in a discretionary space wherein professionals are asked to make judgments, drawing on their own expertise and knowledge (Ball 2018; O'Meara 2021). Such judgments provide important insight and flexibility over automated responses. However, it is critical that faculty evaluation policies provide guardrails around that judgment to ensure that equity goals are achieved (Correll 2017). Policy language can facilitate and/or constrain equity.

¹ The term equity-minded was coined by Professor Estela Mara Bensimon. To learn more about equity-minded approaches in higher education, see the rich resources and equity research at the University of Southern California Center for Urban Education (n.d.) as well as Bensimon's work cited throughout.

Each principle offers a way to both view faculty evaluation policies and consider ways to improve them. There is also overlap between these principles. For example, efforts to improve transparency (providing information to candidates) might also improve clarity (making it easy to understand what is expected). We go into more specific content areas of faculty evaluation policies (e.g., assessment of teaching, external letters) in a subsequent report. However, we wanted to start with the principles and rationales as the foundation.



We recommend reading this report with attention to the rationale and research behind the principles first and foremost. We offer evidence supporting each principle, especially as the principle relates to ensuring an equitable faculty evaluation process. We provide questions to consider at the end of each subsection, which are designed to help individual faculty members, faculty evaluation committees, faculty senates, academic leaders, and other stakeholders in faculty evaluation. These questions can be used to inform how these parties begin a policy reform process, review policies for their own advancement, or think strategically about inclusive practices across an institution.

TRANSPARENCY

Transparency refers to the degree to which salient information regarding faculty evaluation is shared accurately and accessibly (Schnackenberg and Tomlinson 2016). Participants' experiences of organizational injustice and their intent to leave an institution are very much tied to their experiences of lackluster transparency (Barrett and Barrett 2011; Colquitt and Greenberg 2003; Daly and Dee 2006; O'Meara, Lennartz, et al. 2019; Nyunt et al. 2022), thus making it an important principle in faculty evaluation.

Promotion and tenure processes have been described as "archery in the dark" (Rice 1996). Candidates report a lack of procedural justice when critical information about the tenure or evaluation process is not shared with them (Nyunt et al. 2022). When policies exclude critical information about any faculty evaluation process, participants within an organization with inside connections are more likely to access the relevant information, and those who may be less networked proceed at a disadvantage (Beddoes and Pawley 2014; Tierney and Bensimon 1996). Though many studies focus on a lack of transparency in the tenure track, faculty in non-tenure-track roles also find a lack of information about their contracts, opportunities for promotion, and employment renewals frustrating; the lack of transparency communicates to non-tenure-track faculty that they are not valued (Crick, Larson, and Seipel 2020; Kezar 2013; O'Meara, Templeton, and Nyunt 2018; O'Meara, Nyunt, et al. 2019).

Therefore, key information about the faculty evaluation process and procedures should be shared with all participants, including candidates and their evaluators. For example, it is helpful to note in policies that candidates will be provided copies of evaluation policies and procedures when they are first appointed, as well as to share timelines for submissions, outline what materials candidates will submit, and provide information about how external reviewers (if any) will be chosen. If decisions will be shared with candidates at specific levels of review (e.g., after a department vote), that milestone should be noted as well, and when and how notifications will occur should be affirmed.

There are, of course, reasons why some aspects of faculty evaluation processes and procedures are not shared with candidates. For example, many tenure policies require that the identity of external reviewers and copies of their review letters be kept confidential. This practice is thought to encourage an honest evaluation of the candidate's scholarship. Whenever possible, however, those overseeing evaluation processes should err on the side of transparency. When there are good reasons not to provide information, it is still important to ask whether policy silence on a particular issue may differentially affect candidates (e.g., whether some may get access to this information and some may not) and to seek to remove that harm by ensuring more equal access to information.

Transparency: Is salient information related to faculty evaluation intentionally shared, accessible, and accurate? If salient information is intentionally left out, is there a good reason?

CLARITY

Clarity refers to the degree to which faculty evaluation policy language is easily understood. Organizational scholars have further defined clarity as text that is comprehensible, coherent, simple enough, and easily interpreted (Briscoe and Murphy 2012; Potosky 2008). Each candidate under evaluation and each evaluator should be able to read the policy and walk away with the same understanding of what the policy means.

Clarity is an important equity issue. Research shows that when policies are overly vague, unclear, or ambiguous, they disproportionately hurt women and Black, Brown, and Indigenous faculty by making it more likely that evaluators will engage social biases to make decisions (Beddoes and Pawley 2014; Heilman and Haynes 2005; Kulp, Wolf-Wendel, and Smith 2019; Laursen and Austin 2020; Lennartz and O'Meara 2018; Stewart and Valian 2018), which results in favoring White candidates and men candidates. For example, policies using terms such as "outstanding," "acceptable," "high-impact," or "excellent" without providing metrics or examples to define what makes service "high-impact" or research contributions "outstanding" result in ambiguous conditions in which bias thrives as reviewers define these terms in different ways (Kahneman 2011). These conditions are likely to produce negative outcomes for minoritized faculty, as the "benefit of the doubt" (Stewart and Valian 2018) tends not to go to these groups.

Evaluators also associate certain characteristics with certain groups, such as women and caretaking, or men and leadership (Eagly and Karau 2002; Phelan, Moss-Racusin, and Rudman 2008). For example, Marchant, Bhattacharya, and Carnes (2007) found that medical schools that included the word "leader" in their tenure criteria, especially when used vaguely, were less likely to advance women due to the association of the word with masculinity. Similarly, Carnes and colleagues (2005) noted that women were disadvantaged in NIH grant funding processes due to several components, including ambiguity in the performance criteria. Also, as mentioned above, many professional track faculty are reviewed annually. Their percent of effort spent on teaching, service, research, clinical service, and administration may change substantially year to year (AAUP 2003; Kezar and Sam 2013). If their annual evaluation criteria are not tied to their percent of effort, the expectations can be out of alignment with their actual workload. Thus, improving the clarity of faculty evaluation policies can mitigate biases that harm those in the most vulnerable appointment types and career stages.

A closely related reason why clarity improves equity relates to reducing "noise" among evaluators. Kahneman et al. (2016) observe that a decision-making process is "noisy" when there is variability or unpredictability in results where we expect reliability. An example provided by Kahneman et al. (2016) relates to stepping on a scale in a five-minute period. If you step on the scale three times, and each time it tells you that you are three pounds heavier than you know you are, the scale is biased (the scale will always give you a heavier weight than it should). But if the scale tells you the first time you step on it that you are three pounds over, then the next time you step onto the scale it says you are two pounds under, and the third time it says five pounds over, it is "noisy."

There is often noise in faculty evaluation policies when there is incomplete information and evaluators try to guess the meaning of a situation (O'Meara 2015b). For example, if we do not script the process with specific instructions to external reviewers, they may not know how to handle a parental leave year in assessing a candidate. Likewise, when an external reviewer declines to review a candidate and this is recorded in the file without guidance, some evaluators may assume the decline was based on the candidate's file, whereas others may assume it was simply a matter of availability (O'Meara 2015b).

Ambiguity has some benefits (Eisenberg 1984): when used intentionally, it can facilitate flexibility, allow processes to differ based on professional discretion, and engage qualitative judgment in purposeful ways. In fact, some scholars worry that if they identify a clear threshold for performance, scholars will stop working when they reach it. Yet there is little evidence that working under the stress of an ambiguous target fosters great scholarship.



Every department, college, or university needs to determine for themselves the actual criteria, standards, and benchmarks they will use. As Stewart and Valian (2018, 334) observe, "ideally a department or school strikes a happy medium, being neither vague in a way that encourages evaluation errors nor over-specific by using criteria that may not fit all candidates (e.g., an exact number of publications, particular funding sources, only certain publication outlets)." For example, take the issue of campus service. Policy language can outline four different kinds of service and observe that all faculty going up for promotion are expected to have contributed meaningfully to at least two kinds of service to meet expectations. This flexibility ensures that all candidates are aware that they should have at least two kinds of campus service in their portfolio but also allows the specific content of each of those cases to be different. The goal is to provide enough information so that any expectations are clear, while still providing some flexibility in how to meet those expectations.

Based on our prior experience working with campuses, we especially recommend auditing faculty evaluation policy language in the following areas where ambiguity may invite cognitive and social biases and noise in interpretation of meaning. Our second report will provide more detailed recommendations for these content areas in faculty evaluation policies:

- Articulation of how to count parental or other leave time in evaluation
- Availability versus declines of external reviewers
- Intellectual leadership on papers and grant projects
- Documentation and evaluation of international reputation, leadership, and impact
- What external evaluators should focus on in their review of candidates (e.g., scholarship versus all faculty roles)

Clarity: Is information provided in a way that is easily understood? Is there ambiguity that could invite bias, guessing, and misinterpretation?

ACCOUNTABILITY

In using the term accountability, we mean holding a common expectation that established faculty evaluation policies and practices will be followed by candidates and by evaluators. If they are not followed, then responsible actors and steps have been identified to respond.

Studies show that systems of accountability can strengthen a sense of trust among members and positively impact morale. Han and Hong (2019) found that staffing, performance evaluation, and compensation are areas where levels of accountability can be positively established, and therefore significantly affect organizational performance. Accountability is also an important tool in improving diversity in organizations (Bohnet 2016; Dowd and Bensimon 2015). Drawing on federal data describing the workforce of 708 private sector establishments and surveys of employment practices, Kaley, Dobbin, and Kelly (2006, 611) also found that "structures that embed accountability, authority, and expertise" are most effective in increasing the diversity of their workforces. Alternatively, left unchecked, violations of policies, practices, and expectations can lead to low morale and delegitimize the evaluation process, leading to distrust among members and between the members and their organization.

Given the high stakes of many faculty evaluation processes, accountability for following policies and procedures and having clear consequences and remedies laid out for when violations (intentional or not) occur is important. For example, what happens when the faculty evaluation policy states that three external reviewers should come from a candidate's submitted list and three should come from the committee, but the committee chair never invites any candidate choices? What if an external letter writer reveals a cultural bias, an intimate relationship, or inappropriate details about the health of a candidate—does the committee disregard the entire letter, or omit the inappropriate content only? What happens when student evaluations show clear gender or racial bias—does the candidate have to address this or does the department chair or committee report it? Who owns these problems and who takes responsibility for them? Equity-minded reform for accountability takes ownership of such situations and crafts steps to mitigate or remove inequities.

Some would argue that embedding stronger accountability into policies and practices could diminish the autonomy and discretion of candidates and evaluators to flexibly and collegially go about their work. However, there is no reason to position autonomy and discretion against accountability. O'Meara (2021) observed that all faculty discretion, and we could also argue autonomy, exists within a set of parameters set by fields, disciplines, and institutions. Thus, holding ourselves accountable is only about making sure those parameters, set by shared governance procedures, and in this case faculty evaluation policies, are kept. Given that equity and inclusion are stated missions of most higher education institutions, being accountable for meeting equity goals is part of "walking the equity talk" (McNair, Bensimon, and Malcom-Piqueux 2020).

Many of the principles articulated in the American Association of University Professors (AAUP) publication Policy Documents and Reports, also known as the Redbook, are about making sure that faculty evaluation policies and procedures have some method of redress established if there are due process, ethical, or other violations (AAUP 2015). An equity-minded approach does not require asking and answering "what if" for every possible situation. However, when conducting an audit, it is worth considering whether there is a clear process outlined to handle routine types of deviations, especially those that can do the most harm to an equitable process. Provosts' offices, which often handle such situations, are in the best position to help auditors look for places where accountability strategies might be built into policies.

For example, many policies clearly outline how external reviewers are selected and specify the information they are provided to evaluate candidates, but do not provide information on what a review committee should do if information or characteristics unrelated to the criteria are noted (e.g., "he managed his research despite having cancer"). Policies with strong accountability explain whether that information is redacted or if the letter should be removed from the dossier altogether. They explain who a committee member or candidate might report policy infractions to, and how they are supposed to be handled.

Accountability: Are there responsible actors and steps identified if faculty evaluation policies and practices are not followed? Are there common enough deviations that might be foreseen and a process for addressing them laid out in the policy?

CONSISTENCY

Consistency refers to the extent to which candidates and evaluators in similar circumstances are treated the same in the evaluation process. There are two ways that consistency is often conceptualized in evaluation. For example, external consistency is when there is likelihood, given the same set of evaluation criteria and the same candidate portfolio, that different evaluators will make similar decisions. Internal consistency is when there is likelihood that two candidates who have the same credentials will receive similar outcomes from a single reviewer (Borman et al. 2001; Lievens 2001; Lozano, García-Cueto, and Muñiz 2008; Martinkova and Goldhaber 2015; Moskal and Leydens 2000).

Recent work examining faculty hiring and rubrics (White-Lewis et al., forthcoming) explains how some degree of consistency is often sought as a means of ensuring fair evaluation. For example, as one method to avoid implicit biases in evaluation, many institutions now require structured interviews because they make it more likely that evaluators have similar information on each candidate. This method can reduce biases toward marginalized groups (Bragger et al. 2002; Brecher, Bragger, and Kutcher 2006; McCarthy, Van Iddekinge, and Campion 2010; White-Lewis et al., forthcoming) by limiting the extent to which evaluators rely on personal preferences or candidate rapport. Best practices further suggest that evaluators apply the same clear criteria consistently to candidate materials in making recommendations (Heilman and Martell 1986; Isaac, Lee, and Carnes 2009).

Our recommendation to audit faculty evaluation policies and practices for consistency does not mean that evaluators and external reviewers have no discretion to make their own professional judgment about a case. As noted earlier, most faculty evaluation processes occur in "discretionary spaces" (Ball 2018; O'Meara 2021) where automated decisions are not possible or advantageous. Evaluator expertise is needed, as is flexibility in judgment. However, just as we would not want to see one patient sent home and the other admitted after presenting the symptoms based on race or income, we would not want two different standards to be used for two assistant professor candidates in the exact same situation (O'Meara 2021). When evaluators do not understand criteria or understand how to apply them consistently to candidate portfolios, the effectiveness of the evaluation is threatened (Beddoes and Pawley 2014; Schleicher et al. 2002; White-Lewis 2020; White-Lewis et al., forthcoming).

Auditing faculty evaluation policies and processes for consistency may seem odd, given that most operate in such a way that a committee is evaluating a single individual and their record against a set of department, college, or university criteria, and are not supposed to be comparing one case with another. However, we have come across several ways in which consistency is relevant to implementing a process that is both efficient and equitable.

Campus-wide policies often set overall standards and processes and signal institutional values but leave the details of specific criteria to departments to decide. However, if allowing variability between departments in definitions of scholarship, voting processes, external letter instructions, and/or materials is going to produce inequities between departments or colleges, greater uniformity of policies should be considered.

It is important to look at what candidates are required to standardize in their presentation of teaching, research, and service and what they are allowed to do differently. For example, is an assistant professor in one field (e.g., chemistry) permitted to present their teaching in a way that differs from that presentation in another field (e.g., public health) at the same professorial rank, and for the same level of course? If so, why? Is it because there are important disciplinary differences in how they teach, or in what their task is (e.g., lab supervision versus clinical supervision)? Or is it simply precedent that departments have always been allowed to evaluate the same types of courses differently (e.g., both faculty teach a general education course, but in some cases teaching evaluations are required and in others not used at all)? Such inconsistency could be advantaging some candidates over others and operate counter to institutional goals toward holistic evaluation of teaching. Likewise, are there reasons for one department to notify the candidate after their vote and others not to provide that information until the end of the process? Or for some departments but not others to require external letters for promotion to full professor?



One strategy to address consistency is for a provost's office to provide a template or checklist for what all departmental/unit faculty evaluation guidelines must consistently include (e.g., university definition of scholarship, list of advisees). In addition, it is helpful for a provost's office to create a university-wide template for parts of the process that make sense to standardize, such as external reviewer letters and a standard process for how votes are tallied and reported to the committee and the candidate. Uniformity in this regard is not the same thing as universality; it only means alignment in areas where good reasons exist for things to be the same. A threshold could be centrally established and then departments might differ in how they demonstrate the threshold was met.

Consistency: Are essential parts of the faculty evaluation process standardized and applied consistently so that when the same kind of activity is evaluated or procedure enacted, faculty can expect similar treatment? If units are allowed to differ, are there disciplinary/field reasons?

CONTEXT

In using the term "context" we mean the setting, backdrop, and/or circumstances within which faculty contributions occur.² Equitable systems acknowledge differences in contexts; contextualization is key to fair evaluation (Bensimon, Dowd, and Witham 2016; Mallard, Lamont, and Guetzkow 2009; McNair, Bensimon, and Malcom-Piqueux 2020; O'Meara 2021). Equity-minded reforms pull relevant contexts into view so that performance can be seen against the backdrop of barriers and advantages scaffolding accomplishments (Bastedo and Bowman 2017; Gonzales and Griffin 2020; Posselt, Hernandez, and Villarreal 2020). For example, teaching a required quantitative course may influence student evaluations (Kreitzer and Sweet-Cushman 2021), and serving as an undergraduate program director pre-tenure would be expected to shape available time for scholarship (Misra et al. 2011). Recognizing such relevant backdrops does not give the candidate a free pass to have not met clearly stated criteria, such as evidence of teaching effectiveness. Instead, it only helps the performance be seen in full view of its opportunities and constraints, much like the achievement relative to opportunity model at Monash University (Monash University, n.d.).

² Merriam-Webster, s.v. "context (n.)," accessed January 7, 2022, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/context.

Likewise, although some see an inherent contradiction between the principles of applying consistency and pulling context into view, we think both are important and do not have to be at odds. For example, if a candidate is teaching the only course that deals with issues of race in a major, and that has shaped their student evaluations, then that context should be brought forward in candidate materials and be considered in evaluation of teaching. Here the principle of context leads; otherwise, it might seem like no challenge was present in teaching about race in the U.S., while those challenges are well documented (Settles, Buchanan, and Dotson 2019).

It is important for faculty evaluation policies to encourage candidates to present both the relevant contexts that frame how they have met evaluation criteria, and guidance to assist committee members in knowing how to assess and apply those contexts. In terms of strategies to add context to faculty evaluation policies, we provide a few examples, which typically come down to (a) pulling context into view so it can frame the evaluation and (b) making sure that the candidate is not being evaluated against inappropriate contexts. For example, engaged scholars and those doing work in newer interdisciplinary fields face specific challenges, such as a lack of expertise on the faculty committee evaluating their work (O'Meara 2001, 2018). Some institutions have chosen to address this issue by adding someone doing engaged work to the committee to add context to the evaluation (O'Meara 2011a; O'Meara 2014; O'Meara, Eatman, and Petersen 2015). Other universities have required that at least one external evaluator be someone involved in the same kinds of scholarship. Likewise, if a candidate is one of a very few Indigenous women faculty on campus and is asked repeatedly to be on search committees and called on for diversity commissions, this workload context is relevant in discussing that individual's contributions (Griffin and Reddick 2011; Griffin, Bennett, and Harris 2013; O'Meara et al. 2018; O'Meara, Lennartz, et al. 2019; Misra et al. 2021; Turner, González, and Wood 2008).

Another example mentioned earlier but also relevant here would be in the evaluation of professional track faculty for promotion. Often professional track faculty efforts in teaching, research, and service differ from those of tenure track faculty, and can even change year to year. If someone is on a professional track contract where 40 percent of their effort is clinical service, compared with most professional track faculty who are 80 percent teaching and 20 percent service, that context should be presented early in an evaluation portfolio. It can be helpful to ask candidates to complete a cover sheet for their portfolio that shows percent of effort toward each activity during each of the years since their last appointment, so that their accomplishments are viewed against this backdrop.

Sometimes, however, it is important to audit policies for places where contexts are being inappropriately added to the evaluation. For example, when template language for external reviews asks that external reviewers comment on whether the individual would be tenured at the external evaluator's institution, the policy is replacing the context where the candidate actually works with the backdrop of another institution where they do not work. The other institution could have had more resources, a different teaching load, or different tenure criteria, so this comparison should be discouraged (O'Meara 2015b; Stewart and Valian 2018). Likewise, reviewers should not be asked to comment on teaching and service roles if they are not being provided any real data on either—as they lack the context to make a fair judgment (O'Meara 2015b). Finally, some institutional guidelines ask the reviewer to provide an assessment of the candidate against others of their career stage in their field. Given that scholars study different subfields, are in different institutional types, and entered positions with different levels of professional expertise, this comparison invites noisy, random comparisons (O'Meara 2015b; Stewart and Valian 2018).

Context: Do the policies and practices provide ways to bring relevant contexts into view for the evaluation of faculty work? Does the evaluation invite comparisons that do not fit the circumstances?

CREDIT

One definition of "credit" is recognition for work that has been done.3 In higher education, for example, we give students standardized "credit" for their coursework that counts toward their degree. In applying the concept of credit to faculty evaluation policies, we believe it is important to ensure that faculty candidates are getting credit for work that is central to the institutional mission but may be invisible and undervalued (Hanasono et al. 2019). Much work in DEI, student success, and public engagement falls into this category (Griffin, Bennett, and Harris 2013; Griffin and Reddick 2011; Turner, González, and Wood 2008). There are social biases and expectations that particular groups (e.g., women, historically minoritized faculty) will perform well in and have commitments to areas such as mentoring, service, and DEI (El-Alayli, Hansen-Brown, and Ceynar 2018; Wessel et al. 2015). Therefore, evaluators are less apt to notice exceptional work in this area. A "cultural tax" faced by historically minoritized faculty has been well documented in the literature (e.g., Antonio 2002; Baez 2000; Griffin and Reddick 2011; Turner, González, and Wood 2008). Women and historically minoritized faculty are engaged in more teaching, mentoring, and service activities, and yet report less time for research than men and White peers in similar careers stages, disciplines, and institutional types (El-Alayli, Hansen-Brown, and Ceynar 2018; Hanasono et al. 2019; Jimenez et al. 2019; Misra et al. 2011; O'Meara 2016; O'Meara, Culpepper, et al. 2021). Although academic departments and colleges can address part of this problem through equity-minded workload reform in how labor is taken up and assigned (Misra et al. 2021; O'Meara et al. 2020), a big part of the problem is moving more of this work into what counts in faculty evaluation systems.

We see three ways that the issue of credit tends to play out in faculty evaluation policies. First, institutions realize that critical work central to their missions and goals is not adequately rewarded in faculty evaluation policies and add language to recognize such work. They describe that work, connect it to the mission of the institution, tell candidates where they can document it, and provide advice to evaluators on how to assess it. This strategy moves mission-critical work from invisibility to presence in policy. Second, institutions realize that mission-critical work is included, but there is no differentiation between doing that work in a way that solely meets standards and doing it in a way that is outstanding or above standards, rendering the work of those who went above and beyond invisible or undervalued. Third, committee members often have to make decisions about whether the full contributions of a candidate will count in their evaluation or only those that are most recent. For example, some institutions have a practice of only crediting work completed while at the institution or since the faculty member's last appointment. Given career interruptions and the many years spent in postdoctoral positions, allowing a candidate to include full career contributions provides greater flexibility and may have benefits to equity in evaluation.

Credit: Do faculty evaluation policies recognize mission critical work (e.g., mentoring, institutional service, DEI)? Do policies provide a way to differentiate between levels of effort when it is important to do so?

FLEXIBILITY

Flexibility refers to the ability of a policy, practice, or rule to adapt to a new, different, or changing set of individual and/or work contexts. In higher education, flexible faculty evaluation polices have typically included adapting for work-life integration, recognition of different career stages, academic talents, ways of going about work, and on-ramps and off-ramps to the academic career (ACE 2005; Gappa, Austin, and Trice 2007; Trower 2011; O'Meara and Rice 2005; O'Meara 2015a), along with, more recently, adapting to changes in technology (McKinney and Coolidge 2021), intended impacts of scholar-ship (Mitchneck 2020), and the realities of the global pandemic (Gonzales and Griffin 2020). Institutions can create faculty evaluation policies that have enough "give" in them to recognize, as Stewart and Valian (2018, 327) observe, that "no faculty member enacts the professor role exactly like any other, and faculty evaluation processes should be sensitive to the differences among us."

³ Merriam-Webster, s.v. "credit (n.)," accessed January 4, 2022, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/credit.



Just as many workplaces now have to compete for talent with similar organizations offering greater remote work and telework, higher education finds itself at an inflection point. Institutions that put policies in place for differentiated workload, stopping the tenure clock, and parental leave have found significant benefits to faculty satisfaction, commitment, and retention (O'Meara 2015a). There are several ways flexibility may appear as a principle in faculty evaluation policies, including but not limited to work-life policies and practices like parental or family care leave, years counted toward tenure or in promotion, and the main focus and/or contributions of faculty (e.g., making a case for promotion based on excellence in teaching and service as the primary areas of contribution). We encourage institutions to look across their faculty evaluation policies to see if they offer the flexibility necessary to recognize varied work and work-life contexts.

Flexibility: Are faculty evaluation policies flexible enough to adapt to the new, different, and changing set of contexts shaping faculty careers and work?

AGENCY AND REPRESENTATION

For the purposes of this paper, we use the word agency to mean a candidate's ability to make the best possible case for advancement and/or recognition (i.e., to take steps to meet their career goals or promotion and advancement) (Campbell and O'Meara 2014; O'Meara and Campbell 2011; Terosky, O'Meara, and Campbell 2014). We use the term representation broadly, rather than legally, to mean that candidates can expect that the individuals evaluating them will have some understanding of the contexts of their work.

Many agency and representation issues are recognized by AAUP's Redbook (AAUP 2015). Overlapping with issues of transparency, examples of issues of agency and representation include notifications of decisions and whether candidates have the opportunity to provide responses to decisions, make corrections to information, or add amendments for significant accomplishments. Some institutions allow candidates to choose invitations for half of their external or internal reviewers to ensure that they will have at least some reviewers who are most inclined to understand their work.

Research shows many professional track faculty are left out of important departmental and institutional matters, and they do not have formal representation in committees that evaluate professional track faculty (Kezar and Sam 2013). In Kezar and Sam's work on contingent faculty, the authors state:

> It is typical for policies and practices to exclude nontenure-track faculty in voting on matters pertaining to tenure track faculty members—especially regarding granting tenure. However, the range of issues on which they should have input is often left out of discussions and union contracts, and many of the interviewed contingent faculty leaders suggested that it is important that contracts or handbooks designate that nontenure-track faculty have involvement in a range of institutional issues, to ensure that faculty do not become excluded. (Kezar and Sam 2013, 443)

When it comes to faculty evaluation, not having professional track faculty represented on the bodies that evaluate them will perpetuate exclusion and inequity. As institutions have begun to strengthen promotion ladders for professional track faculty, the issue of representation on committees evaluating them has come front and center. Many campuses are reviewing their promotion policies to ensure that the committees that evaluate professional track faculty include at least one member, if not more, who are professional track faculty themselves. Likewise, as the size, shape, and nature of faculty appointments have changed across an institution, it is often necessary to make sure that the representation of faculty on campus-wide committees is broadly attentive to representation across disciplines and fields.

Agency and representation: Do policies ensure faculty rights for notification of the status of the case, and clarification as needed? Do policies provide ways for candidates to represent themselves in ways advantageous to their cases? Can faculty expect that they will be evaluated by colleagues who understand the relevant contexts of their work (e.g., appointment type, field, methods, and epistemologies as relevant)?

Conclusion

This report is one of three resources we have created to support equity-minded reform of faculty evaluation policies. This report focused on principles to apply in evaluating policies, while the second report will center on specific areas in faculty evaluation policy and practice that are often problematic for historically minoritized faculty and those who take up methods and epistemologies not dominant in their field (e.g., public scholarship, digital humanities). The second report will also make recommendations for policy revision to address those problem areas. The third resource is an audit tool combining the principles and particular areas for policy reform into one set of questions that can be asked as institutional agents review their policies to make important changes.

Returning to where we started, let's imagine there is a faculty member just beginning their career who wants to end food insecurity on their campus and in the neighborhoods that surround their institution. The faculty member is working alongside first-generation students, staff, and academic leaders to build sustainable solutions informed by expertise in public health, by the local knowledge of those who are food insecure, and by practitioners providing support. The faculty member wants to know if this work will be recognized and rewarded in their academic home. Will it?

We know those reading this report are working to provide an answer, even if through small advances to "walk the equity talk" (McNair, Bensimon, and Malcom-Piqueux 2020). As authors, we have suggested that institutions begin by examining evaluation processes for transparency, clarity, accountability, context, credit, consistency, flexibility, agency, and representation. Grounded in these principles, we can take the next important step of looking at specific parts of the evaluation policies—such as the practice of requiring external letters, the assessment of teaching, and the measure of scholarly impact—that reproduce inequality for historically minoritized faculty and those studying at the edges of their discipline, using publicly engaged methods and epistemologies.

We hope institutions consider applying this audit to their own faculty evaluation policies; consider the language used by other institutions to develop new, innovative ways to address the issues we raise here; and ultimately find it helpful as they work to align their faculty evaluation policies and practices with their desire to scaffold a diverse and inclusive institution and society.

We wish to thank some generous colleagues for their feedback and suggestions on this paper and the forthcoming second report, including Damani White-Lewis, Dawn Culpepper, Joya Misra, John Saltmarsh, Kiernan Mathews, and Melissa Latimer.

References

- AAUP (American Association of University Professors). 2003. Contingent Appointments and the Academic Profession. Washington, DC: AAUP.
- AAUP (American Association of University Professors). 2015. Policy Documents and Reports. 11th edition. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- AAUP (American Association of University Professors). 2018. "The Annual Report on the Economic Status of the Profession, 2017–18." Academe 104, no. 2 (March-April). https://www.aaup.org/sites/default/files/ARES_2017-18.pdf.
- AAUW (American Association of University Women). n.d. "Fast Facts: Women Working in Academia." American Association of University Women (website). Accessed October 4, 2021. https://www.aauw.org/resources/article/fast-facts-academia/.
- ACE (American Council on Education). 2005. An Agenda for Excellence: Creating Flexibility in Tenure-Track Faculty Careers. Washington, DC: ACE. https://www.acenet.edu/Documents/Agenda-for-Excellence.pdf.
- Antonio, Anthony Lising. 2002. "Faculty of Color Reconsidered: Reassessing Contributions to Scholarship." The Journal of Higher Education 73 (5): 582-602. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2002.11777169.
- Arellano, Gerardo N., Oscar Jaime-Acuña, Olivia A. Graeve, and Lynnette D. Madsen. 2018. "Latino Engineering Faculty in the United States." MRS Bulletin 43, no. 2 (February): 131–147. https://doi.org/10.1557/mrs.2018.23.
- Baez, Benjamin. 2000. "Race-Related Service and Faculty of Color: Conceptualizing Critical Agency in Academe." Higher Education 39, no. 3 (April): 363-391. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1003972214943.
- Ball, Deborah Loewenberg. 2018. "(What) Does Practice-Based Teacher Education Have to Do with Disrupting Racism and Oppression?" Presented at the Teaching Works Practice-Based Teacher Education Workshop at the University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, July 16, 2018.
- Banerjee, Dina, and Alice L. Pawley. 2013. "Gender and Promotion: How Do Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) Faculty Members Survive a Foggy Climate?" Journal of Women and Minorities in Science and Engineering 19 (4): 329–347. https://doi.org/10.1615/JWomenMinorScienEng.2013004654.
- Barrett, Lucinda, and Peter Barrett. 2011. "Women and Academic Workloads: Career Slow Lane or Cul-de-Sac?" Higher Education 61, no. 2 (February): 141–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-010-9329-3.
- Bastedo, Michael N., and Nicholas A. Bowman. 2017. "Improving Admission of Low-SES Students at Selective Colleges: Results from an Experimental Simulation." Educational Researcher 46, no. 2 (March): 67–77. https://doi.org/10.3102%2F 0013189X17699373.
- Beddoes, Kacey, and Alice L. Pawley. 2014. "Different People Have Different Priorities': Work-Family Balance, Gender, and the Discourse of Choice." Studies in Higher Education 39 (9): 1573-1585. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2013.8014 32.
- Bensimon, Estela Mara. 2006. "Learning Equity-Mindedness: Equality in Educational Outcomes." The Academic Workplace 1, no. 17 (Spring): 2-5, 18-21.
- Bensimon, Estela Mara, Alicia C. Dowd, and Keith Witham. 2016. "Five Principles for Enacting Equity by Design." AACU Diversity and Democracy 19, no. 1 (Winter). https://aacu.org/diversitydemocracy/2016/winter/bensimon.

- Blue, Jennifer, Adrienne L. Traxler, and Ximena C. Cid. 2018. "Gender Matters." Physics Today 71, no. 3 (March): 40–46. https://doi.org/10.1063/PT.3.3870.
- Bohnet, Iris. 2016. What Works: Gender Equality by Design. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Borman, Walter C., Daren E. Buck, Mary Ann Hanson, Stephan J. Motowildo, Stephen Stark, and Fritz Drasgow. 2001. "An Examination of the Comparative Reliability, Validity, and Accuracy of Performance Ratings Made Using Computerized Adaptive Rating Scales." Journal of Applied Psychology 86, no. 5 (October): 965–973. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.86.5.965.
- Bragger, Jennifer DeNicolis, Eugene Kutcher, John Morgan, and Patricia Firth. 2002. "The Effects of the Structured Interview on Reducing Biases Against Pregnant Job Applicants." Sex Roles 46, no. 7-8 (April): 215-226. https://doi. org/10.1023/A:1019967231059.
- Brecher, Ellyn, Jennifer Bragger, and Eugene Kutcher. 2006. "The Structured Interview: Reducing Biases Toward Job Applicants with Physical Disabilities." Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal 18, no. 3 (September): 155-170. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10672-006-9014-y.
- Briscoe, Forrest, and Chad Murphy. 2012. "Sleight of Hand? Practice Opacity, Third-Party Responses, and the Interorganizational Diffusion of Controversial Practices." Administrative Science Quarterly 57, no. 4 (December): 553-584. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0001839212465077.
- Butler, Todd. 2021. "Beyond Tenure Clock Management." Inside Higher Ed, January 19, 2021. https://www.insidehighered. com/advice/2021/01/19/tenure-clock-extensions-arent-enough-help-support-researchers-and-their-work.
- Campbell, Corbin M., and KerryAnn O'Meara. 2014. "Faculty Agency: Departmental Contexts That Matter in Faculty Careers." Research in Higher Education 55, no. 1 (February): 49–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-013-9303-x.
- Carnes, Molly, Christie M. Bartels, Anna Kaatz, and Christine Kolehmainen. 2015. "Why Is John More Likely to Become Department Chair than Jennifer?" Transactions of the American Clinical and Climatological Association 126: 197-214.
- Carnes, Molly, Patricia G. Devine, Linda Baier Manwell, Angela Byars-Winston, Eve Fine, Cecilia E. Ford, Patrick Forscher, Carol Isaac, Anna Kaatz, Wairimu Magua, Mari Palta, and Jennifer Sheridan. 2015. "The Effect of an Intervention to Break the Gender Bias Habit for Faculty at One Institution: A Cluster Randomized, Controlled Trial." Academic Medicine, 90 no. 2 (February): 221-230. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.000000000000552.
- Carnes, Molly, Stacie Geller, Eve Fine, Jennifer Sheridan, and Jo Handelsman. 2005. "NIH Director's Pioneer Awards: Could the Selection Process Be Biased Against Women?" Journal of Women's Health 14, no. 8 (October): 684–691. https://doi. org/10.1089/jwh.2005.14.684.
- Center for Urban Education. n.d. "Research: Using Research to Implement Organizational Change." University of Southern California Center for Urban Education (website). Accessed October 4, 2021. https://cue.usc.edu/research/.
- Cheryan, Sapna, and Hazel Rose Markus. 2020. "Masculine Defaults: Identifying and Mitigating Hidden Cultural Biases." Psychological Review 127, no. 6 (November): 1022-1052. https://doi.org/10.1037/rev0000209.
- Colquitt, Jason A., and Jerald Greenberg. 2003. "Organizational Justice: A Fair Assessment of the State of the Literature." In Organizational Behavior: The State of the Science, edited by Jerald Greenberg, 165-210. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Connolly, Mark R., You-Geon Lee, and Julia N. Savoy. 2015. "Faculty Hiring and Tenure by Sex and Race: New Evidence from a National Survey." Presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago, IL, April 16-20, 2015.

- Correll, Shelley J. 2017. "SWS 2016 Feminist Lecture: Reducing Gender Biases in Modern Workplaces: A Small Wins Approach to Organizational Change." Gender & Society 31, no. 6 (December): 725–750. https://doi.org/10.1177 %2F0891243217738518.
- Crick, Kent A., Lisa M. Larson, and Matthew T. Seipel. 2020. "Non-tenure Track Faculty Satisfaction: A Self-Determination Model." Journal of Career Assessment 28, no. 3 (August): 425-445. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1069072719870681.
- Daly, Cheryl J., and Jay R. Dee. 2006. "Greener Pastures: Faculty Turnover Intent in Urban Public Universities." The Journal of Higher Education 77 (5): 776-803. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2006.11778944.
- Dowd, Alicia C., and Estela Mara Bensimon. 2015. Engaging the "Race Question": Accountability and Equity in U.S. Higher Education. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Durodoye, Raifu, Jr., Marcia Gumpertz, Alyson Wilson, Emily Griffith, and Seher Ahmad. 2020. "Tenure and Promotion Outcomes at Four Large Land Grant Universities: Examining the Role of Gender, Race, and Academic Discipline." Research in Higher Education 61, no. 5 (August): 628-651. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-019-09573-9.
- Eagan, M. Kevin, Jr., and Jason C. Garvey. 2015. "Stressing Out: Connecting Race, Gender, and Stress with Faculty Productivity." The Journal of Higher Education 86 (6): 923-954. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2015.11777389.
- Eagly, Alice H., and Steven J. Karau. 2002. "Role Congruity Theory of Prejudice Toward Female Leaders." Psychological Review 109, no. 3 (July): 573–598. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.109.3.573.
- Eaton, Asia A., Jessica F. Saunders, Ryan K. Jacobson, and Keon West. 2020. "How Gender and Race Stereotypes Impact the Advancement of Scholars in STEM: Professors' Biased Evaluations of Physics and Biology Post-Doctoral Candidates." Sex Roles 82, no. 3-4 (February): 127-141. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-019-01052-w.
- Eisenberg, Eric M. 1984. "Ambiguity as Strategy in Organizational Communication." Communication Monographs 51 (3): 227-242. https://doi.org/10.1080/03637758409390197.
- El-Alayli, Amani, Ashley A. Hansen-Brown, and Michelle Ceynar. 2018. "Dancing Backwards in High Heels: Female Professors Experience More Work Demands and Special Favor Requests, Particularly from Academically Entitled Students." Sex Roles 79, no. 3-4 (August): 136-150. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-017-0872-6.
- Ellison, Julie, and Timothy K. Eatman. 2008. Scholarship in Public: Knowledge Creation and Tenure Policy in the Engaged University. Syracuse, NY: Imagining America.
- Espinosa, Lorelle L., Jonathan M. Turk, Morgan Taylor, and Hollie M. Chessman. 2019. Race and Ethnicity in Higher Education: A Status Report. Washington, DC: American Council on Education.
- Fenton, Will. 2017. "The New Wave in Digital Humanities." Inside Higher Ed, August 2, 2017. https://www.insidehighered. com/digital-learning/article/2017/08/02/rising-stars-digital-humanities.
- Fox, Mary Frank, Carol Colatrella, David McDowell, and Mary Lynn Realff. 2007. "Equity in Tenure and Promotion: An Integrated Institutional Approach." In Transforming Science and Engineering: Advancing Academic Women, edited by Abigail Stewart, Janet E. Malley, and Danielle LaVaque-Manty, 170–186. Ann Arbor, MI: The University of Michigan Press.
- Gappa, Judith M., Ann E. Austin, and Andrea G. Trice. 2007. Rethinking Faculty Work: Higher Education's Strategic Imperative. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Gee, E. Gordon. 2021. "Teaching and Tenure: Part II." Inside Higher Ed, March 29, 2021. https://www.insidehighered.com/ views/2021/03/29/colleges-must-offer-multiple-roads-recognition-faculty-opinion.
- Gonzales, Leslie D., and Kimberly A. Griffin. 2020. Supporting Faculty During and After COVID-19: Don't Let Go of Equity. Washington, DC: Aspire Alliance. https://drive.google.com/file/d/1WQrIG6LsR04jGASfF6Z8WVxl4RIRpsMj/view.

- Griffin, Kimberly A., Jessica C. Bennett, and Jessica Harris. 2013. "Marginalizing Merit? Gender Differences in Black Faculty D/discourses on Tenure, Advancement, and Professional Success." The Review of Higher Education 36, no. 4 (Summer): 489-512. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2013.0040.
- Griffin, Kimberly A., and Richard J. Reddick. 2011. "Surveillance and Sacrifice: Gender Differences in the Mentoring Patterns of Black Professors at Predominantly White Research Universities." American Educational Research Journal 48, no. 5 (October): 1032–1057. https://doi.org/10.3102%2F0002831211405025.
- Han, Yousueng, and Sounman Hong. 2019. "The Impact of Accountability on Organizational Performance in the U.S. Federal Government: The Moderating Role of Autonomy." Review of Public Personnel Administration 39, no. 1 (March): 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0734371X16682816.
- Hanasono, Lisa K., Ellen M. Broido, Margaret M. Yacobucci, Karen V. Root, Susana Peña, and Deborah A. O'Neil. 2019. "Secret Service: Revealing Gender Biases in the Visibility and Value of Faculty Service." Journal of Diversity in Higher Education 12, no. 1 (March): 85-98. https://doi.org/10.1037/dhe0000081.
- Heilman, Madeline E., and Michelle C. Haynes. 2005. "No Credit Where Credit Is Due: Attributional Rationalization of Women's Success in Male-Female Teams." Journal of Applied Psychology 90, no. 5 (September): 905–916. https://doi. org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.5.905.
- Heilman, Madeline E., and Richard F. Martell. 1986. "Exposure to Successful Women: Antidote to Sex Discrimination in Applicant Screening Decisions?" Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes 37, no. 3 (June): 376–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(86)90036-1.
- HERI (Higher Education Research Institute). 2017. Faculty's Role in Research, Teaching, and Service. Los Angeles: HERI. https://www.heri.ucla.edu/infographics/HERI-Faculty-2017-Infographic.pdf.
- Hofstra, Bas, Vivek V. Kulkarni, Sebastian Munoz-Najar Galvez, Bryan He, Dan Jurafsky, and Daniel A. McFarland. 2020. "The Diversity-Innovation Paradox in Science." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 117, no. 17 (April 28): 9284–9291. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1915378117.
- Hoppe, Travis A., Aviva Litovitz, Kristine A. Willis, Rebecca A. Meseroll, Matthew J. Perkins, B. Ian Hutchins, Alison F. Davis, Michael S. Lauer, Hannah A. Valantine, James M. Anderson, and George M. Santangelo. 2019. "Topic Choice Contributes to the Lower Rate of NIH Awards to African-American/Black Scientists." Science Advances 5, no. 10 (October). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaw7238.
- Isaac, Carol, Barbara Lee, and Molly Carnes. 2009. "Interventions That Affect Gender Bias in Hiring: A Systematic Review." Academic Medicine 84, no. 10 (October):1440-1446. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181b6ba00.
- Ivie, Rachel, Garrett Anderson, and Susan White. 2014. Focus On: African Americans & Hispanics Among Physics and Astronomy Faculty. College Park, MD: American Institute of Physics. https://www.aip.org/sites/default/files/statistics/ faculty/africanhisp-fac-pa-123.pdf.
- Jimenez, Miguel F., Theresa M. Laverty, Sara P. Bombaci, Kate Wilkins, Drew E. Bennett, and Liba Pejchar. 2019. "Underrepresented Faculty Play a Disproportionate Role in Advancing Diversity and Inclusion." *Nature Ecology &* Evolution 3, no. 7 (July): 1030-1033. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-019-0911-5.
- Kahneman, Daniel. 2011. *Thinking, Fast and Slow*. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Kahneman, Daniel, Andrew M. Rosenfield, Linnea Gandhi, and Tom Blaser. 2016. "Noise: How to Overcome the High, Hidden Cost of Inconsistent Decision Making." Harvard Business Review (October): 36-43.
- Kalev, Alexandra, Frank Dobbin, and Erin Kelly. 2006. "Best Practices or Best Guesses? Assessing the Efficacy of Corporate Affirmative Action and Diversity Policies." American Sociological Review 71, no. 4 (August): 589-617. https://doi.org/10.1 177%2F000312240607100404.

- Kezar, Adrianna. 2013. "Departmental Cultures and Non-Tenure-Track Faculty: Willingness, Capacity, and Opportunity to Perform at Four-Year Institutions." The Journal of Higher Education 84 (2): 153-188. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2 013.11777284.
- Kezar, Adrianna, and Cecile Sam. 2013. "Institutionalizing Equitable Policies and Practices for Contingent Faculty." The Journal of Higher Education 84 (1): 56–87. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2013.11777278.
- Kreitzer, Rebecca J., and Jennie Sweet-Cushman. 2021. "Evaluating Student Evaluations of Teaching: A Review of Measurement and Equity Bias in SETs and Recommendations for Ethical Reform." Journal of Academic Ethics. Published ahead of print, February 9, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10805-021-09400-w.
- Kulp, Amanda M., Lisa Wolf-Wendel, and Daryl G. Smith. 2019. "The Possibility of Promotion: How Race and Gender Predict Promotion Clarity for Associate Professors." Teachers College Record 121 (5): 1–28.
- Laursen, Sandra, and Ann E. Austin. 2020. Building Gender Equity in the Academy: Institutional Strategies for Change. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Lee, Carole J., Cassidy R. Sugimoto, Guo Zhang, and Blaise Cronin. 2013. "Bias in Peer Review." Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology 64, no. 1 (January): 2-17. https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.22784.
- Lennartz, Courtney, and KerryAnn O'Meara. 2018. "Navigating a Foggy Climate: Women Associate Professors' Sense of Agency and Work Environment Experiences." In Success After Tenure: Supporting Mid-Career Faculty, edited by Vicki L. Baker, 285-310. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Leslie, Sarah-Jane, Andrei Cimpian, Meredith Meyer, and Edward Freeland. 2015. "Expectations of Brilliance Underlie Gender Distributions Across Academic Disciplines." Science 347, no. 6219 (January 16): 262–265. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1261375.
- Lievens, Filip. 2001. "Assessors and Use of Assessment Centre Dimensions: A Fresh Look at a Troubling Issue." Journal of Organizational Behavior 22, no. 3 (May): 203-221. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.65.
- Lozano, Luis M., Eduardo García-Cueto, and José Muñiz. 2008. "Effect of the Number of Response Categories on the Reliability and Validity of Rating Scales." Methodology 4, no. 2 (January): 73-79. https://doi.org/10.1027/1614-2241.4.2.73.
- Mallard, Grégoire, Michèle Lamont, and Joshua Guetzkow. 2009. "Fairness as Appropriateness: Negotiating Epistemological Differences in Peer Review." Science, Technology and Human Values 34, no. 5 (September): 573-606. https://doi. org/10.1177%2F0162243908329381.
- Marchant, Angela, Abhik Bhattacharya, and Molly Carnes. 2007. "Can the Language of Tenure Criteria Influence Women's Academic Advancement?" Journal of Women's Health 16, no. 7 (September): 998-1003. https://doi.org/10.1089/ jwh.2007.0348.
- Martinkova, Patricia, and Dan Goldhaber. 2015. "Improving Teacher Selection: The Effect of Inter-Rater Reliability in the Screening Process." CEDR Working Paper No. 2015-7. Seattle: University of Washington Center for Education Data & Research.
- McCarthy, Julie M., Chad H. Van Iddekinge, and Michael A. Campion. 2010. "Are Highly Structured Job Interviews Resistant to Demographic Similarity Effects?" Personnel Psychology 63, no. 2 (Summer): 325–359. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2010.01172.x.
- McKinney, Andrew, and Amanda Coolidge. 2021. "The Tenure Review Process Must Evolve." Inside Higher Ed, August 10, 2021. https://www.insidehighered.com/advice/2021/08/10/work-open-educational-resources-should-be-valued-tenurereview-opinion.

- McNair, Tia Brown, Estela Mara Bensimon, and Lindsey Malcom-Piqueux. 2020. From Equity Talk to Equity Walk: Expanding Practitioner Knowledge for Racial Justice in Higher Education. Hoboken, NJ: Jossey-Bass.
- Milkman, Katherine L., Modupe Akinola, and Dolly Chugh. 2015. "What Happens Before? A Field Experiment Exploring How Pay and Representation Differentially Shape Bias on the Pathway into Organizations." Journal of Applied Psychology 100, no. 6 (November): 1678–1712. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000022.
- Misra, Joya, Alexandra Kuvaeva, KerryAnn O'Meara, Dawn Kiyoe Culpepper, and Audrey Jaeger. 2021. "Gendered and Racialized Perceptions of Faculty Workload." Gender & Society 35, no. 3 (June): 358–394. https://doi.org/10.1177 %2F08912432211001387.
- Misra, Joya, Jennifer Hickes Lundquist, Elissa Holmes, and Stephanie Agiomavritis. 2011. "The Ivory Ceiling of Service Work." Academe (January–February). https://www.aaup.org/article/ivory-ceiling-service-work#.YWBt39rMI2w.
- Mitchell, Kristina M. W., and Jonathan Martin. 2018. "Gender Bias in Student Evaluations." PS: Political Science & Politics 51, no. 3 (July): 648-652. https://doi.org/10.1017/S104909651800001X.
- Mitchneck, Beth. 2020. Synthesizing Research on Gender Biases and Intersectionality in Citation Analysis and Practices Washington, DC: ARC Network. https://uploads-ssl.webflow.com/60ceadbbd1b31b75588b6cd7/ 616b4be13010b4087717f037_Mitchneck-ARC-VVS-Final-Report-Updated.pdf.
- Mitchneck, Beth, and Jessi L. Smith. 2021. "We Must Name Systemic Changes in Support of DEI." Inside Higher Ed, August 24, 2021. https://www.insidehighered.com/views/2021/08/24/academe-should-determine-what-specific-systemic-changesare-needed-dei-opinion.
- Monash University. n.d. Guidelines for Assessing Achievement Relative to Opportunity for Decision Makers. https://www.monash. edu/_data/assets/pdf_file/0008/1798460/Guidelines-for-Assessing-Achievement-Relative-to-Opportunity.pdf.
- Moody, JoAnn. 2012. Faculty Diversity: Removing the Barriers. 2nd edition. New York: Routledge. https://doi.org/ 10.4324/9780203805398.
- Moskal, Barbara M., and Jon A. Leydens. 2000. "Scoring Rubric Development: Validity and Reliability." Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation 7 (10). https://doi.org/10.7275/q7rm-gg74.
- Moss-Racusin, Corinne A., John F. Dovidio, Victoria L. Brescoll, Mark J. Graham, and Jo Handelsman. 2012. "Science Faculty's Subtle Gender Biases Favor Male Students." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, no. 41 (October 9): 16474–16479. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1211286109.
- Murrar, Sohad, Paula A. Johnson, You-Geon Lee, and Molly Carnes. 2021. "Research Conducted in Women Was Deemed More Impactful but Less Publishable than the Same Research Conducted in Men." Journal of Women's Health 30, no. 9 (September): 1259-1267. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2020.8666.
- National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Medicine. 2020. Re-envisioning Promotion and Advancement for STEM Faculty: Proceedings of a Workshop—in Brief. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi. org/10.17226/25742.
- Nyunt, Gudrun, KerryAnn O'Meara, Bach, Lauren, and Allison LaFave. 2022. "Tenure Undone: Faculty Experiences of Organizational Justice When Tenure Seems or Becomes Unattainable." Equity & Excellence in Education. Published ahead of print, January 5, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2021.2010013.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn. 2001. "Scholarship Unbound: Assessing Service as Scholarship in Promotion and Tenure Decisions." NERCHE Working Paper No. 25. Boston: New England Resource Center for Higher Education.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn. 2011a. "Faculty Civic Engagement: New Training, Assumptions, and Markets Needed for the Engaged American Scholar." In "To Serve a Larger Purpose": Engagement for Democracy and the Transformation of Higher Education, edited by John Saltmarsh and Matthew Hartley, 177-198. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.

- O'Meara, KerryAnn. 2011b. "Inside the Panopticon: Studying Academic Reward Systems." In Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research, Volume 26, edited by John C. Smart and Michael B. Paulsen, 161–220. New York: Springer.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn. 2014. "Change the Tenure System." Inside Higher Ed, January 13, 2014. https://www.insidehighered. com/advice/2014/01/13/essay-calls-reform-tenure-and-promotion-system.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn. 2015a. Flexible Workplace Agreements: Enabling Higher Education's Strategic Advantage. New York: TIAA-CREF Institute. https://www.tiaa-crefinstitute.org/public/pdf/flexible_workplace_agreements.pdf.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn. 2015b. "Half-Way Out: How Requiring Outside Offers to Raise Salaries Influences Faculty Retention and Organizational Commitment." Research in Higher Education 56, no. 3 (May): 279-298. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11162-014-9341-z.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn. 2016. "Legitimacy, Agency, and Inequality: Organizational Practices for Full Participation of Community-Engaged Faculty." In Publicly Engaged Scholars: Next-Generation Engagement and the Future of Higher Education, edited by Margaret A. Post, Elaine Ward, Nicholas V. Longo, and John Saltmarsh, 96–109. Sterling, VA: Stylus Publishing.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn. 2018. "Accurately Assessing Engaged Scholarship." Inside Higher Ed, August 22, 2018. https://www. insidehighered.com/advice/2018/08/22/academe-needs-better-evaluate-engaged-scholarship-opinion.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn. 2021. "Leveraging, Checking, and Structuring Faculty Discretion to Advance Full Participation." The Review of Higher Education 44, no. 4 (Summer): 555-585. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2021.0012.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn, Ahmed Bawa, Hugo Garcia, Ira Harkavy, Rita Hodges, and Hilligje Van't Land. 2021. "The Fight for Diverse, Inclusive, Antiracist and Just Democracies." Inside Higher Ed, May 4, 2021. https://www.insidehighered.com/ views/2021/05/04/higher-ed-must-play-role-creating-antiracist-and-just-democracies-opinion.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn, Elizabeth Beise, Dawn Culpepper, Joya Misra, and Audrey Jaeger. 2020. "Faculty Work Activity Dashboards: A Strategy to Increase Transparency." Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning 52 (3): 34-42. https://doi.org /10.1080/00091383.2020.1745579.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn, and Corbin M. Campbell. 2011. "Faculty Sense of Agency in Decisions About Work and Family." The Review of Higher Education 34, no. 3 (Spring): 447-476. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2011.0000.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn, Dawn Culpepper, Joya Misra, and Audrey Jaeger. 2021. Equity-Minded Faculty Workloads: What We Can and Should Do Now. Washington, DC: American Council on Education.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn, Timothy Eatman, and Saul Petersen. 2015. "Advancing Engaged Scholarship in Promotion and Tenure: A Roadmap and Call for Reform." Liberal Education 101, no. 3 (Summer). http://www.aacu.org/liberaleducation/2015/ summer/o'meara.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn, Audrey Jaeger, Joya Misra, Courtney Lennartz, and Alexandra Kuvaeva. 2018. "Undoing Disparities in Faculty Workloads: A Randomized Trial Experiment." PLoS ONE 13 (12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0207316.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn, Alexandra Kuvaeva, Gudrun Nyunt, Chelsea Waugaman, and Rose Jackson. 2017. "Asked More Often: Gender Differences in Faculty Workload in Research Universities and the Work Interactions That Shape Them." American Educational Research Journal 54, no. 6 (December): 1154-1186. https://doi.org/10.3102%2F0002831217716767.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn, Courtney Jo Lennartz, Alexandra Kuvaeva, Audrey Jaeger, and Joya Misra. 2019. "Department Conditions and Practices Associated with Faculty Workload Satisfaction and Perceptions of Equity." The Journal of Higher Education 90 (5): 744-772. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2019.1584025.

- O'Meara, KerryAnn, Gudrun Nyunt, Lindsey Templeton, and Alexandra Kuvaeva. 2019. "Meeting to Transgress: The Role of Faculty Learning Communities in Shaping More Inclusive Organizational Cultures." Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 38 (3): 286-304. https://doi.org/10.1108/EDI-09-2017-0184.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn, and R. Eugene Rice. 2005. Faculty Priorities Reconsidered: Rewarding Multiple Forms of Scholarship. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- O'Meara, KerryAnn, Lindsey Templeton, and Gudrun Nyunt. 2018. "Earning Professional Legitimacy: Challenges Faced by Women, Underrepresented Minority, and Non-Tenure-Track Faculty." Teachers College Record 120 (12): 1–38.
- Ong, Maria, Carol Wright, Lorelle L. Espinosa, and Gary Orfield. 2011. "Inside the Double Bind: A Synthesis of Empirical Research on Undergraduate and Graduate Women of Color in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics." Harvard Educational Review 81, no. 2 (Summer): 172–209.
- Phelan, Julie E., Corinne A. Moss-Racusin, and Laurie A. Rudman. 2008. "Competent Yet Out in the Cold: Shifting Criteria for Hiring Reflect Backlash Toward Agentic Women." Psychology of Women Quarterly 32, no. 4 (December): 406-413. https://doi.org/10.1111%2Fj.1471-6402.2008.00454.x.
- Posselt, Julie R. 2016. Inside Graduate Admissions: Merit, Diversity, and Faculty Gatekeeping. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Posselt, Julie R., Theresa E. Hernandez, Cynthia D. Villarreal, Aireale J. Rodgers, and Lauren N. Irwin. 2020. "Evaluation and Decision Making in Higher Education: Toward Equitable Repertoires of Faculty Practice." In Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research, Volume 35, edited by Laura W. Perna, 453-515. New York: Springer.
- Posselt, Julie R., Theresa E. Hernandez, and Cynthia D. Villarreal. 2020. "Choose Wisely: Making Decisions with and for Equity in Higher Education." In Higher Education Administration for Social Justice and Equity: Critical Perspectives for Leadership, edited by Adrianna Kezar and Julie Posselt, 43-66. New York: Routledge.
- Potosky, Denise. 2008. "A Conceptual Framework for the Role of the Administration Medium in the Personnel Assessment Process." Academy of Management Review 33, no. 3 (July): 629-648. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2008.32465704.
- Ray, Victor. 2019. "A Theory of Racialized Organizations." American Sociological Review 84, no. 1 (February): 26–53. https:// doi.org/10.1177%2F0003122418822335.
- Rice, R. Eugene. 1996. "Making a Place for the New American Scholar." New Pathways: Faculty Career and Employment for the 21st Century Working Paper Series, Inquiry No. 1. Washington, DC: American Association for Higher Education.
- Richardson, James. 2013. "Establishing a New Paradigm: The Call to Reform the Tenure and Promotion Standards for Digital Media Faculty." The Journal of Interactive Technology & Pedagogy, no. 3.
- Rosen, Andrew S. 2018. "Correlations, Trends and Potential Biases Among Publicly Accessible Web-Based Student Evaluations of Teaching: A Large-Scale Study of RateMyProfessors.com Data." Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education 43 (1): 31-44. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2016.1276155.
- Sarsons, Heather. 2017. "Recognition for Group Work: Gender Differences in Academia." American Economic Review 107, no. 5 (May): 141-45. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.p20171126.
- Schleicher, Deidra J., David V. Day, Bronston T. Mayes, and Ronald E. Riggio. 2002. "A New Frame for Frame-of-Reference Training: Enhancing the Construct Validity of Assessment Centers." Journal of Applied Psychology 87, no. 4 (August): 735–746. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.4.735.
- Schnackenberg, Andrew K., and Edward C. Tomlinson. 2016. "Organizational Transparency: A New Perspective on Managing Trust in Organization-Stakeholder Relationships." Journal of Management 42, no. 7 (November): 1784–1810. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0149206314525202.

- Settles, Iris H., NiCole T. Buchanan, and Kristie Dotson. 2019. "Scrutinized but Not Recognized: (In)visibility and Hypervisibility Experiences of Faculty of Color." Journal of Vocational Behavior 113 (August): 62-74. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.06.003.
- Steinpreis, Rhea E., Katie A. Anders, and Dawn Ritzke. 1999. "The Impact of Gender on the Review of the Curricula Vitae of Job Applicants and Tenure Candidates: A National Empirical Study." Sex Roles 41, no. 7-8 (October): 509-528. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018839203698.
- Stewart, Abigail J., and Virginia Valian. 2018. An Inclusive Academy: Achieving Diversity and Excellence. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Teele, Dawn Langan, and Kathleen Thelen. 2017. "Gender in the Journals: Publication Patterns in Political Science." PS: Political Science & Politics 50, no. 2 (April): 433-447. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049096516002985.
- Terosky, Aimee LaPointe, KerryAnn O'Meara, and Corbin M. Campbell. 2014. "Enabling Possibility: Women Associate Professors' Sense of Agency in Career Advancement." Journal of Diversity in Higher Education 7, no. 1 (March): 58-76. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035775.
- Tierney, William G., and Estela Mara Bensimon. 1996. "(En)gender(ing) Socialization." In Promotion and Tenure: Community and Socialization in Academe, 75-102. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Trower, Cathy A. 2002. "Can Colleges Competitively Recruit Faculty Without the Prospect of Tenure?" In *The Questions of* Tenure, edited by Richard P. Chait, 182–220. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Trower, Cathy A. 2011. "Senior Faculty Satisfaction: Perceptions of Associate and Full Professors at Seven Public Research Universities." TIAA-CREF Institute Research Dialogue 101 (June): 1-15.
- Turner, Caroline Sotello Viernes, Juan Carlos González, and J. Luke Wood. 2008. "Faculty of Color in Academe: What 20 Years of Literature Tells Us." Journal of Diversity in Higher Education 1, no. 3 (September): 139–168. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0012837.
- Uttl, Bob, and Dylan Smibert. 2017. "Student Evaluations of Teaching: Teaching Quantitative Courses Can Be Hazardous to One's Career." PeerJ, May 9, 2017. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3299.
- Valian, Virginia. 1999. Why So Slow? The Advancement of Women. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Wessel, Jennifer L., Nao Hagiwara, Ann Marie Ryan, and Christine M. Y. Kermond. 2015. "Should Women Applicants 'Man Up' for Traditionally Masculine Fields? Effectiveness of Two Verbal Identity Management Strategies." Psychology of Women Quarterly 39, no. 2 (June): 243-255. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0361684314543265.
- White-Lewis, Damani K. 2020. "The Facade of Fit in Faculty Search Processes." The Journal of Higher Education 91 (6): 833-857. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2020.1775058.
- White-Lewis, Damani K., KerryAnn O'Meara, Dawn Culpepper, Lindsey Templeton, and Julia Anderson. Forthcoming. "Do Rubrics Actually Make Faculty Hiring More Equitable? Evidence from Ethnographic Observations of Faculty Hiring Processes."
- Witteman, Holly O., Michael Hendricks, Sharon Straus, and Cara Tannenbaum. 2018. "Female Grant Applicants Are Equally Successful When Peer Reviewers Assess the Science, but Not When They Assess the Scientist." bioRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1101/232868.

